1986

V.R. Utah Limited v. Leroy Griffin : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue I: The Judgment granted to V.R. UTAH LIMITED by the Trial Court, is a "Second Commission" for the sale of Appellant GRIFFIN'S bakeries, and is prohibited by the Utah Real Estate Commission Rules and Regulations governing real estate brokers.

Issue II: The undisputed evidence introduced to the Trial Court confirms that the broker V.R. Limited, through its own agent (Ossinger) entered into a confidential relationship with GRIFFIN and in violation of its fiduciary duty, owed to GRIFFIN the Broker/Agent made material misrepresentations to GRIFFIN and wilfully misled GRIFFIN into executing the listing agreements, which he would not have executed, but for said misrepresentations, and accordingly should be deemed null and void.

Issue III: V.R. Limited failed to introduce any evidence whatsoever of the "Purchase Price" of the two listed bakeries (RDK and Riverton) upon which the commissions were to have been

based, and having failed to sustain its burden, the Judgment should be reversed.

Issue IV: The Trial Court acknowledged the Respondent's failure to establish proof of the "purchase price". The Court's awarding a \$6,000.00 commission for the sale of the Riverton Bakery is unconscionable, being 23% of the listing price, in addition to the full 10% commission paid to UBI, the selling broker.

Issue V: The Trial Court improperly used the "clear and convincing" standard for proving the elements of misrepresentation, and should have applied the "preponderance of the evidence" standard.

STATUTES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

The following statutes, rules and regulations are determinative of the issues in this case:

UCA 1953, Section 61-2-5.5:

"There is create within the division a real estate commission. The commission shall

(a) Promulgate rules relating to the licensing and conduct of real estate principal broker, brokers, and salesmen;"

Rule 11 of the Real Estate Commission Rules and Regulations provides as follows:

"g. Double Commissions. The division will not condone acts of brokers who sell listed properties other than through the listing broker. SUBJECTING THE SELLER TO THE LIABILITY OF PAYING TWO COMMISSIONS IS PROHIBITED." (Emphasis added.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a lawsuit filed by the Respondent, V.R. Utah Limited, a real estate broker, to recover a second real estate commission from the sale of two of Appellant, LeRoy Griffin's bakeries.

On July 22, 1983, the said Griffin listed his three bakeries (RDK Bakery, Riverton Bakery, and RDK-Winegars Bakery) for sale through UBI Business Brokers, on a one year listing, continuing through June 22, 1984.

Thereafter, on August 1, 1983, the Respondent, V.R. Utah Limited's agent, Diane Ossinger, a licensed real estate agent, contacted Griffin by telephone, and requested that she, Ossinger, be allowed to list the RDK Bakery. Ossinger was never called as a witness, but according to the unrefuted thesimony of Griffin, he told agent Ossinger that the bakery was already listed with another broker [Record 153, 154], to which Ossinger replied that she needed to have the listing in order to sel the bakery, but a commission would be payable to V.R. Utah Limited, only if they (V.R.) sold it. [Record 157, 158].

On August 1, 1983, Griffin signed the listing agreement with V.R. Utah Limited, on the Riverton Bakery for a six month listing, at the listing price of \$26,000.00. [Exhibit 2P]

Thereafter on August 17, 1983, V.R. Limited's agent, Ossinger, came to the home of Griffin [Record 156], met with Griffin, and after again informing Ossinger that the bakeries were all listed with UBI Business Brokers, and giving her the

same equipment list prepared for UBI, with UBI's name thereon, and receiving the assurance that if she didn't sell the bakeries, he would not have to pay a commission. [Record 156 Line 24-25].

On December 9, 1983, UBI Business Brokers concluded a sale for all THREE BAKERIES, including the two listed with V.R. Limited (RDK and Riverton Bakeries), and the third bakery, RDK Winegars Bakery, for the total price of \$154,400.00 and a full ten per cent (10%) real estate commission (\$15,400.00) was paid to UBI Business Brokers.

Thereafter V.R. Limited filed this lawsuit to collect a second commission on the two bakeries for which V.R. Limited also held a listing agreement.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Issue I: The Respondent, V.R. Utah Limited, seeks to recover a second real estate commission on the sale of two bakeries of Appellant Griffin which were sold by another Broker UBI Business Brokers, based on their claim that Griffin also signed a listing agreement with V.R. Limited. However, subjecting a seller to payment of a double commission is prohibited under Rule 11g of the Utah Real Estate Commission Rules and Regulations.

Issue II: Undisputed testimony introduced to the Trial Court establishes that Respondent V.R. Limited's agent, Ossinger, was told prior to obtaining the listing on Appellant Griffin's two bakeries, that said bakeries were already listed with another broker (UBI), and said agent misrepresented said listing

agreements and induced Appellant Griffin to sign on the assurance that the listing agreements would only require payments of a commission to V.R. Limited if V.R. Limited sold the bakeries, in violation to said agent's fiduciary duty to Griffin - accordingly said listings should be null and void.

Issue III: The Respondent, V.R. Limited, failed to introduce any evidence whatsoever regarding the "purchase price" of the two bakeries listed, and accordingly there is no rational basis upon which damages may reasonably be measured. Respondent failed to meet its burden of proof and the Judgment should be reversed.

Issue IV: The Trial Court acknowledged that Respondent V.R. Limited failed to establish the "purchase price" of the bakeries, and improperly assessed damages of \$6,000.00 per listing, which constitutes an unconscionable damages.

Issue V: The Trial Court improperly imposed the "clear and convincing" standard for proving misrepresentation, and should have applied the "preponderance of evidence" standard.

ARGUMENT

I. THE JUDGMENT GRANTED TO V.R. UTAH LIMITED BY THE TRIAL COURT, IS A "SECOND COMMISSION" FOR THE SALE OF APPELLANT GRIFFIN'S BAKERIES, AND IS PROHIBITED BY THE UTAH REAL ESTATE COMMISSION RULES AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING REAL ESTATE BROKERS

The Respondent V.R. Limited, is a real estate broker, licensed under the laws of Utah and subject to the Rules and Regulations of the Real Estate Commission. The irrefuted evidence before the Court establishes the fact that V.R. Limited's agent, Diane Ossinger, was told, before she ever drew up the listing agreements, that the bakeries were already listed with another broker [Record 152, 153 Line 18, and Record 154 Line 13]. There was no testimony to refute Griffin's statement of the first telephone conversation, or the meeting at his home on August 17, 1983, since only he [Griffin] and Ossinger were present. Ossinger assured Griffin that she needed the listing in order to try to sell the bakeries, and that he [Griffin] would only pay a commission, if they [V.R. Limited] sold the bakeries [Record 157 - 158]. Griffin clearly testified that he would never have signed the listing without Ossinger's assurance that if they [V.R. Limited] did not sell the bakery, he [Griffin] wouldn't have to pay a commission [Record 168 Line 26].

Ossinger was the licensed agent of V.R. Utah Limited [Record 105, page 9-19]. She not only held herself out to be an agent of V.R. Limited, but owed to Griffin a "fiduciary duty" to represent the interests of Griffin, who was uneducated in the sale of business properties and real estate [Record 158, Line 14-24].

Under the provisions of U.C.A. 1953, Section 61-2-5.5, the Utah State Real Estate Commission was created and authorized as follows:

"...The Commission shall
(a) Promulgate rules and regulations relating
to the licensing AND CONDUCT of real estate
principal brokers, brokers, and SALESMEN."

[Emphasis added.]

Pursuant to Title 61, the Real Estate Commission established Rules and Regulations to govern brokers and salesmen, not the members of the public who deal with them.

Rule 11g. provides in part as follows:

"Subjecting the seller to liability of paying two commissions IS PROHIBITED." [Emphasis added.]

This case represents a blatant violation of this rule. V.R. Limited, through its own agent (Ossinger), was informed of the prior listing with UBI, but by telling Griffin the listing is needed so they [V.R. Limited] can pursue a sale, and that a commission will be payable to V.R. Limited only if V.R. Limited sells the bakeries, the Trial Court erroneously ignores the misrepresentations of Ossinger, made to induce the wrongful execution of the second listing agreements, and concludes that it was not the broker, but Griffin who subjected himself to pay a second commission, by executing the listing. [Record 130-131].

V.R. Limited, through its own agent (Ossinger) with knoweldge that the bakeries were already listed with another broker, wrongfully induced Griffin to execute a second listing agreement, and now because of their wrong doing, are allowed by the Trial Court to subject the seller to payment of a second commission on a single sale of Griffin's bakeries. The Judgment is in violation of the clear prohibition of Rule 11g and should be reversed.

II. THE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE INTRODUCED TO THE TRIAL COURT CONFIRMS THAT THE BROKER V.R. LIMITED, THROUGH ITS OWN AGENT (OSSINGER) ENTERED INTO A CONFIDENTIAL RELATIONSHIP WITH GRIFFIN AND IN VIOLATION OF ITS FIDUCIARY DUTY OWED TO GRIFFIN, THE BROKER/AGENT MADE MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS TO GRIFFIN AND WILFULLY MISLED GRIFFIN INTO EXECUTING THE LISTING AGREEMENTS, WHICH HE WOULD NOT HAVE EXECUTED, BUT FOR SAID MISREPRESENTATIONS, AND ACCORDINGLY SHOULD BE DEEMED NULL AND VOID.

The undisputed evidence before the Court established that Ossinger was the licensed real estate agent representing V.R. Limited in obtaining the listings from Griffin.

The testimony clearly establishes that three distinct conversations took place between Ossinger and Griffin, before both bakery listings were executed:

1. A telephone conversation between Ossinger and Griffin in which Ossinger inquired regarding listing the RDK Bakery. Only these two parties were involved and only Griffin testified. Therefore his testimony of the conversation must stand unrefuted. He testified that he told Ossinger the bakeries were already listed with another broker, UBI Business Brokers [Record 152, 153, 154].

2. A meeting at the RDK business premises, where Ossinger, Griffin, and another agent Douglas E. Miller, were present. Although Miller testified that he was sitting on another bench, he nevertheless testified he was involved in the conversation and

he and Griffin disagree as to what was said.

3. A meeting on August 17, 1983, at the home of Griffin, with only Ossinger and Griffin present, at which Griffin was again assured by Ossinger, that unless V.R. Limited sold the bakeries, no commission would be payable to V.R. Limited (Record 156, 157, 158].

IN the case of Hal Taylor Associates v. Union American, Inc., 657 P2d 743 (Utah 1982) this Court stated at page 748:

"In Utah, as elsewhere, a real estate broker is held to to be the agent of the property owner for whom he acts. As an agent, he owes a fiduciary duty to this principal."

further:

"A fiduciary or confidential relationship may be created by contract or by circumstances where equity will impose a higher duty in a relationship because the trusting party has been induced to relax the care and vigilance he would ordinarily exercise."

In the case of Gadd v. Olsen v. Johnson, 685 P2d 1041 (Utah 1984) this Court discussed the general rule that misrepresentations of the law or of the legal effects of contracts and writings does not constitute remedial fraud, but then cited the case of Adamson v. Brockbank, 112 Utah 52, 185 P2d 264, 276 (1947) as authority for exceptions to the general rule and concluded as follows:

"The circumstances that generally render the rule inapplicable include the following:

Where the speaker sustained a confidential relation toward the hearer, OR POSSESS SUPERIOR MEANS OF INFORMATION OR WILFULLY MISLEADS HIM INTO A MISCONCEPTION OF HIS RIGHTS AND LIABILITIES."
[Emphasis added.]

further the Court stated:

"Fraudulent representations as to the legal effect of an instrument will avoid it, EVEN IF MADE TO ONE WHO HAS ACTUALLY READ IT, IF UNABLE TO JUDGE ITS TRUE CONSTRUCTION. But the fraud must consist in OBTAINING THE ASSENT OF THE PARTY DEFRAUDED BY INDUCING A FALSE IMPRESSION AS TO ITS LEGAL OR LITERAL NATURE AND OPERATION." [Emphasis added.]

The undisputed evidence introduced to the Trial Court established that V.R. Limited, through its own agent (Ossinger) sustained a confidential relationship with Griffin, and in violation of V.R. Limited's fiduciary duty owed to Griffin, misrepresented and wilfully misled Griffin into a misconception of his rights under the listing agreement by the following:

a. With knowledge that the bakeries were already listed with another broker, Ossinger told Appellant she had to have a written listing so V.R. Limited could sell the bakeries. [Record 153, 154].

b. By telling Griffin that a commission would be payable to V.R. Limited only if V.R. Limited sold the bakeries. [Record 156, 157, and 159].

c. By failing to inform Griffin that by signing the listing he could become liable for payment of double commissions.

III. V.R. UTAH LIMITED FAILED TO INTRODUCE ANY EVIDENCE WHATSOEVER OF THE "PURCHASE PRICE" OF THE TWO LISTED BAKERIES (RDK AND RIVERTON) UPON WHICH THE COMMISSIONS WERE TO HAVE BEEN BASED, AND HAVING FAILED TO SUSTAIN ITS BURDEN, THE JUDGMENT SHOULD BE REVERSED.

Under V.R. Limited's Complaint in paragraph 6, V.R. Limited

claimed as follows:

"Under the terms of both of the listing agreements, defendant agreed to pay to the plaintiff a real estate fee equal to 12% of the purchase price for each business property."

As also stated in the listing agreements, the commissions were to be based upon a percentage of the PURCHASE PRICE.

In the Memorandum Decision [Record 29] the Trial Court stated:

"There is merit to the Defendant's argument that the Court should not speculate upon how to allocate the purchase price of three bakeries, between two of the three bakeries sold inasmuch as the payment was a lump sum."

No evidence whatsoever was introduced to the trial to establish the "purchase price". Therefore the Court on its own resorted to the listing agreement language to award \$6,000.00 on each contract, although not prayed for in the Plaintiff's Complaint. That procedure is also defective, because the language of the agreement says:

Seller agrees to pay broker twelve percent (12%) but in any event not less than \$6,000.00 of the purchase price."

A prerequisite for awarding any commission is to determine the "purchase price", and no such evidence having been introduced to the Trial Court, it was erroneous to award any amount, the Plaintiff having failed to meet its burden of proof.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ACKNOWLEDGED THE RESPONDENT'S FAILURE
TO ESTABLISH PROOF OF THE "PURCHASE PRICE".

THE COURT'S AWARDING A \$6,000.00 COMMISSION FOR THE SALE
OF THE RIVERTON BAKERY IS UNCONSCIONABLE, BEING 23% OF THE
LISTING PRICE, IN ADDITION TO THE FULL 10% COMMISSION
PAID TO UBI, THE SELLING BROKER.

The Trial Court erred in awarding any commission, where the
Plaintiff failed to establish the "purchase price" of the
bakeries.

In the case of Gurule v. SLC Board of Education, 661 P2d 957
(Utah 1983) this Court stated:

"...an award of damages based only on
speculation cannot be upheld."

stating further at page 957:

"[6,7] The findings of fact must provide a basis
for determining whether there is a rational basis
for the award of damages. Proper findings are
essential to enable this Court to perform its
functions of assuring that the findings support
the judgment and that the evidence supports the
findings."

In this case, there is no rational basis for awarding
\$6,000.00 on the sale of the Riverton Bakery. The total listing
price of Riverton Bakery was \$26,000.00 [Exhibit 3P]. It is also
clear from the evidence that the three bakeries sold by UBI, sold
for less than the full listing price. [Record 78 Line 20-23,
Record 79 Line 1-2].

UBI Brokers has already been paid a full ten percent (10%)
commission for the sale. The Trial Court in this matter awarded
\$6,000.00 commission on RDK Bakery and \$6,000.00 on the Riverton

Bakery.

The Riverton Bakery was listed for \$26,000.00, and had the 12% been allowed on the full listed price it would have resulted in a commission of \$3,120.00. By awarding \$6,000.00 on the Riverton Bakery, the Trial Court granted a commission which is 23% of the full listing price, and an unconscionable commission.

In order for the Court to determine a rational basis for damages, it was imperative that in accordance with the listing agreement the "PURCHASE PRICE" be proven by competent evidence. The Plaintiff having failed in its burden, the damages should be stricken and the Judgment reversed.

V. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY USED THE
"CLEAR AND CONVINCING" STANDARD FOR PROVING THE ELEMENTS
OF MISREPRESENTATION, AND SHOULD HAVE APPLIED THE
"PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE" STANDARD.

In the Trial Court's Memorandum Decision [Record 27] it was concluded:

"To void or modify the terms of the contract by the oral agreement, if there was one, there must be shown fraud, duress, undue influence, etc. The Defendant has claimed that V.R. Limited or it's agent perpetrated a fraud on him. However the Defendant has not proven BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE the elements of fraud."
[Emphasis added.]

In the case of Baldwin v. Vantage Corporation, 676 P2d 413 (Utah 1984) this Court stated:

"Plaintiff's further assert that one of their claims against the Defendant was based on misrepresentation which they had the burden of proving only by a preponderance of the evidence... Thus the record indicated that the Trial Court

distinguished between the two standards of proof and held the plaintiff ONLY TO THE PERPONDERANCE STANDARD in their attempt to prove misrepresentation." [Emphasis added.]

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing it is respectfully submitted that the Trial Court erred in its interpretation of Rule 11g of the Real Estate Commission, that the Trial Court applied the improper evidentiary standard for misrepresentation, that the Judgment was not supported by the evidence, and that the Respondent failed to sustain its burden of proof for determination of damages and accordingly the Court erroneously speculated and awarded damages not prayed for in the Plaintiff's Complaint, which are irrational and unconscionable in their application. Accordingly the Trial Court's Judgment should be reversed.