1986

## V.R. Utah Limited v. Leroy Griffin : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I: Defendant signed two Listing Agreements with the plaintiff that both provided that the real estate commission would be immediately due and payable if the seller, directly or indirectly, sold the property without written approval of the broker. The property was sold to a third party without such approval, and plaintiff is entitled to the real estate fees under the provisions of the two Listing Agreements.

POINT NO. II: Under Utah law, fraud and misrepresentation must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. The trial court properly applied that standard to the evidence of fraud and misrepresentation in this action.

POINT NO. III: Defendant failed to show the elements of fraud by clear and convincing evidence. On the contrary, the evidence shows that the agents of the plaintiff had no knowledge that defendant had previously listed the property with another real estate company, and they had no reason to know that they did not have a sole and exclusive listing on the property, as provided in the Listing Agreements.

POINT NO. IV: The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the court are supported by substantial evidence, and they are binding upon this court on this appeal.

POINT NO. V: The Utah Real Estate Commission Rules and Regulations prohibiting the payment of double commissions does not govern any part of this action. The trial court properly interpreted the language of the Rule and held that the action by the plaintiff did not constitute a violation of the Rule or an attempt to obtain a double commission. On the contrary, the plaintiff is merely enforcing a valid agreement that was signed by the defendant knowingly and voluntarily.

POINT NO. VI: The amount awarded to the plaintiff was the lowest amount stated in the contract, and defendant should not be heard now to complain about the award of the minimum figure stated in the contract. The award was based upon the contract.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

**THE EVIDENCE INTRODUCED AT TRIAL  
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPORTS THE VERDICT  
AND JUDGMENT RENDERED BY THE  
COURT IN THIS ACTION.**

Defendant admitted that he signed the two Listing Agreements that were received in evidence as Exhibits 2 and 3. He further admitted that he sold the properties to a third party while those Listing Agreements were in full force and effect.(R.170-1) A Purchase and Sale Agreement was received in evidence as Exhibit 1.

The two Listing Agreements involved in this action gave the plaintiff an exclusive right to sell the two bakeries that were owned by the plaintiff. The authority to sell the properties was clearly given to the plaintiff with the right to receive a commission therefrom. Paragraph 4 of the contract recites as follows:

Seller agrees that the commission shall be immediately due and payable if the seller, directly or indirectly, enters into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (however designated), accepts a deposit or does any act tantamount to a sale or contract to sale without the written approval of the broker, and the cancellation or rescision of any of the foregoing acts shall not act as a release of seller for such liability.

The Utah Supreme Court upheld and approved a similar paragraph in a real estate listing agreement in the case of Chumney v. Scott, 14 U.2d 202, 381 P.2d 84 (1963). In holding

that the broker was entitled to his commission when the listing seller sold his property to a third party within the period covered by the agreement, the court stated as follows:

Moreover, the type of 'exclusive right to sell' real estate listing involved in this action has been universally upheld. The nature of the real estate business, wherein the broker is paid only if the sale is made, would seem to make the contract provision herein in question a reasonable one.

Mr. Larry Huston, a representative of the plaintiff, testified during the trial that the plaintiff company had never given any approval to the sale of the property to Toula Souvall. The exclusive listings give the plaintiff a right to collect its full commission on both properties. The evidence strongly supports a verdict in favor of the plaintiff.

POINT NO. II

**THE COURT APPLIED THE PROPER  
STANDARD OF PROOF WHEN IT  
REQUIRED A SHOWING OF FRAUD  
AND MISREPRESENTATION BY  
CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.**

Based on a tortured interpretation of the Utah case of Baldwin v. Vantage Corporation, 676 P.2d 413 (1984), the defendant asserts that the court erred in requiring the defendant to prove fraud and misrepresentation on the part of plaintiff's real estate agents by clear and convincing evidence. Defendant claims that such evidence need be proved only by a preponderance of the evidence.

Utah law does not support this assertion. The Utah Supreme Court has had many occasions to define the elements

of actionable fraud. Representative of these declarations is the one found in Cheever v. Schramm, 577 P.2d 951, which summarizes the evidentiary requirements of fraud as follows:

We have in the past stated that one claiming fraud must establish by clear and convincing evidence all of the following: (1) That a representation was made; (2) concerning a presently existing material fact; (3) which was false; (4) which the one making the misrepresentation either (a) knew to be false, or (b) made recklessly knowing he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation; (5) for the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it; (6) that the other party acted reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity; (7) did in fact rely upon it; (8) and was thereby induced to act; (9) to its injury and damage.

All of the above elements must be shown by clear and convincing evidence, and each of the elements of fraud must be present before actionable fraud can be shown. As noted in the next portion of this Argument, the evidence presented by the defendant on the issue of fraud and misrepresentation fell far short of proving the elements and the degree required by the Cheever case.

POINT NO. III

**DEFENDANT FAILED TO SUSTAIN  
THE BURDEN OF PROOF ON THE ISSUE  
OF FRAUD AND MISREPRESENTATION.**

As an affirmative defense to this action, defendant claimed that he was induced by the fraud and misrepresentation of plaintiff's agent to sign the Listing Agreements. He also claimed that plaintiff's agent, Diane Ossinger, was told that the properties had been listed with another broker and that

no fee would be payable to the plaintiff unless the property was sold through the plaintiff's efforts.

The evidence on the questions of fraud and knowledge are closely related, and that evidence requires careful scrutiny in this case. Both Larry Huston and Brian Cook testified that they had never been informed that defendant had a previous exclusive listing on the property. Huston said the company would not accept a listing from someone who had previously listed with another company. Mr. Douglas Miller gave similar testimony on that point, but the Miller testimony was more important on the question of whether plaintiff was aware of the previous listing. He testified that Diane Ossinger, the lady agent who took the listing, was somewhat new to the real estate business, so he accompanied her to defendant's place of business to train and assist her. He filled out the information on the Listing Agreement himself and then handed it to the defendant for signature. Defendant appeared to read the information on the form and then signed it. He heard the entire conversation that took place at that time, and he testified that nothing was said to him or the other agent about other listings. He stated further that he would have rejected the listing if he had been told that Helen Hooper had also been given authority to sell the property. Mrs. Hooper testified during the trial that she knew nothing of the second listing given to the plaintiff.

Defendant asserted in his testimony that he had revealed information about the Hooper listing to Ms. Ossinger when he listed the properties with the plaintiff. But his own testimony on cross-examination belies this assertion and shows that it never took place.

During the trial Mr. Huston and Mr. Cook testified at length about a meeting that took place in the Pizza Parlor next door to the R.D.K. Bakery in Sandy on December 15, 1983. They both testified that when they arrived at the business to present an offer to the defendant for the purchase of the properties, Mr. Andy Souvall advised them that he was the new owner and that he had just purchased the business. When defendant arrived and the parties went to the Pizza Parlor to discuss the offer, Huston asked him three times if he had listed the business with another real estate company. Each time defendant denied that he had done so. Huston also asked him three times if he had sold the business. Defendant also thrice denied that he had entered into a contract of sale. When counsel for the plaintiff asked him on cross-examination if he had told Huston and Cook at the Pizza Parlor that he had previously advised Diane Ossinger of the Hooper listing, defendant answered, "No, I did not."(R.172)

A simple analysis of the information given or withheld by the parties at the December 15th meeting clearly shows that

defendant was lying about what he told Ms. Ossinger. If he had told her that he had another listing, and if she had told him that he would not have to pay a real estate fee unless the property was sold by the company, as he claims, then he would have had no reason to lie to Huston and Cook. He would have readily admitted both the prior listings and the sale of the properties on the belief that he was in full compliance with his understanding of the Ossinger-Miller conversation. Why deny the Hooper listing and the Souvall sale if he thought that there was no obligation to the plaintiff under the two Listing Agreements? The honest and proper thing would have been to immediately contend that no real estate fee was payable because no sale had been made by the plaintiff company under the Listing Agreements.

The lies told by the defendant at the Pizza Parlor meeting reveal his true understanding of the Listing Agreements. He must have understood that he would be liable for the full real estate commission if he sold to a third party. To do this, he must have read and understood that portion of the contract. The natural thing to do when faced with that situation at the Pizza Parlor was to lie about the arrangement in hopes that the plaintiff would never find out about the sale. As often occurs when untruths are spoken in court, the defendant became entangled in his own web of lies. The evidence clearly



shows that no fraud was committed by any agents of the plaintiff. Defendant has failed to establish even the first element of fraud referred to in the Cheever case.

There are other elements of fraud that defendant has failed to show in this case. There was no evidence to show that defendant relied upon anything that the plaintiff said. What he wanted to do was list the property as many times as possible so that he would have a better chance to sell it. From the outset, he had no intentions of complying with the terms of the Agreements. Defendant did not prove actionable fraud on the part of the plaintiff, and the defense of fraud and misrepresentation was properly rejected by the court.

POINT NO. IV

**THE LISTING AGREEMENTS SIGNED  
BY THE DEFENDANT WERE VALID  
AND ENFORCEABLE CONTRACTS  
UNDER UTAH LAW.**

This court has held that the trial court retains the prerogative to determine the facts in a breach of contract action. See Santi v. R.G.W.R. Co., 21 U.2d 157, 442 P.2d 941.

Defendant asserts in its Appeal Brief that the evidence concerning the statements made by defendant to plaintiff's agent and the converse statements made by plaintiff's agent to the defendant were undisputed at the trial. This assertion is not supported by the evidence in the record. The testimony of Douglas Miller refutes the assertions by the defendant that

such statements were made. He was present when the first of the Listing Agreements was signed, and because of the inexperience of the listing agent, he filled out the form and asked the defendant to sign it. He categorily denied that there was any discussion about previous listings and about payment in the event the property was not sold. The contract clearly states the terms upon which the commission had to be paid.

As to the knowledge of the agent concerning the listing of the property with UBI through Helen Hooper, the evidence is clearly in dispute. As argued earlier in this Brief, defendant's own testimony casts serious doubt on his claims in this regard. If he had told them about the previous listing, why should he be ashamed to tell them about the sale to Souvall family? Why deny both the listing and the sale of the property made through the other real estate company?

When the court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in this action, it accepted the plaintiff's version of the facts, and that version is clearly supported by the evidence in this case.

POINT NO. V

**PLAINTIFF IS NOT SEEKING A  
"SECOND COMMISSION" FOR THE  
SALE OF DEFENDANT'S BAKERIES.**

Defendant asserts on this appeal that the Judgment granted to the plaintiff in this action is prohibited by Rule

11 of the Utah Real Estate Commission Rules and Regulations prohibiting the payment of double commissions. Rule 11 once provided that the real estate commission will not condone acts of brokers who sell listed properties other than through the listing broker. Any practice of the real estate broker that subjects the seller to the liability of paying two commission is prohibited. Defendant reasons that since he paid Helen Hooper a commission to sell the property under a listing given to UBI, the payment of a second commission to the plaintiff would constitute a double commission which is prohibited by the Rule.

A simple analysis of the former Rule belies this assertion. The commission was obviously referring to brokers who list the property and then somehow manipulate the sale in such a manner that the seller is subjected to the payment of two commissions. Such a practice may take place when the property is sold to another real estate company that somehow obtains an advantage through the assessment of a subsequent sales commission.

The drafters of Rule 11 never intended to bar the payment of legal commissions earned under the terms of a valid and enforceable Listing Agreement. In this case, the defendant, by signing several "sole and exclusive" Listing Agreements, has subjected himself to payment of two commissions. There

is no evidence to show that the plaintiff took any steps or did any acts to require the payment of a double commission by the defendant. The plaintiff is merely enforcing a valid agreement that defendant signed freely, voluntarily and knowingly. It is elementary that the law requires a contracting party to carry through on his promises. The courts have always held that people are free to contract as they please, but they are required to live with the consequences of their acts.

Defendant relies very strongly on the language of Rule 11 of the Real Estate Commission Rules and Regulations concerning double commissions. In July, 1985, Rule 11 was amended and is now known as Rule 6.6 of the Commission Rules. The language has been changed significantly, and the new language makes the Real Estate Commission's interpretation of this "double commission" problem much different than what is now proposed by the defendant. The new language is as follows:

Rule 6.6 Double Commissions.

In order to avoid subjecting the seller to paying double commissions, licensees must not sell listed properties other than through the listing broker.

A review of the present language of Rule 6.6, shows that the purpose of the Rule is to restrict real estate brokers from selling listed properties without going through the listing broker. This interpretation does not apply to sellers who knowingly list the property through several brokers. It

certainly wouldn't prevent the collection of a commission for breach of a valid Listing Agreement.

As the Judge noted in his Memorandum Decision and in his comments during the trial, the defendant caused his own grief in this case, and neither of the brokers had anything to do with the problems that arose from defendant's listing the property with more than one company.

POINT NO. VI

**THE AMOUNT AWARDED TO THE  
PLAINTIFF WAS BASED UPON THE  
CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES.**

When defendant argues that plaintiff failed to introduce any evidence of the "purchase price" of the property, he overlooks the wording of the contract pertaining to the commission to be paid to the real estate broker. Both of the Listing Agreements provide as follows:

2. Seller agrees to pay broker twelve (12 %), but in any event not less than \$ 6,000.00, of the purchase price.

Because there had been no sale, the District Judge chose to award the lesser amount of \$6,000.00 under each contract, or a total of \$12,000.00 for both Listing Agreements. The award was not based upon any purchase price for the property, but was based upon the contractual agreement that plaintiff would receive not less than \$6,000.00. The amount awarded was clearly to the advantage of the defendant and was based upon the lowest amount awardable in this action.

The evidence clearly shows that the property was sold for a total of \$154,500.00 to the Souvall family. If the court had based its Judgment on that selling price, the plaintiff would have been entitled to receive a full 12% of that amount, or over \$18,000.00. Defendant should noting his good fortune rather than attacking the court for assessing the lower minimum figure stated in the contract.